
 
      

        
 
 
 

 

 
RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 

1-7 & COMMERCIAL  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 1-2 

 
Advanced Meeting Package 

 
Regular Meeting 

 
Friday 

June 20, 2025 
10:00 A.M., C.D.T 

 
Location: 

3204 Heartleaf Ave. E. 
Panama City, FL 32405 

 
 
 
 

Note:  The Advanced Meeting Package is a working document and thus all materials are 
considered DRAFTS prior to presentation and Board acceptance, approval, or adoption. 

 



SweetBay Residential Community Development Districts 1-7 
& Commercial Community Development Districts 1-2 

  
 

250 International Parkway, Suite 208 
Lake Mary FL  32746 
321-263-0132  

 
 

 
Board of Supervisors  
SweetBay Residential Community Development Districts 1-7 & Commercial Community 
Development Districts 1-2 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Regular Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the SweetBay Residential Community 
Development Districts 1-7 & Commercial Community Development Districts 1-2  is scheduled for 
Friday, June 20, 2025, at 10:00 a.m., C.D.T. at 3204 Heartleaf Ave. E., Panama City, FL 32405. 
 
An advanced copy of the agenda for the meeting is attached along with associated documentation for 
your review and consideration.  Any additional support material will be distributed at the meeting. 
 
Should you have any questions regarding the agenda, please contact me at (321) 263-0132 X-193 or 
dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com . We look forward to seeing you at the meeting. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

David McInnes 
David McInnes 
District Manager 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com


Page 1 of 1 
 

 RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 
1-7 & COMMERCIAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 1-2 
Meeting Date: Friday, June 20, 2025 Teams Link:  Microsoft Teams 

Meeting 
Time: 10:00 AM, C.D.T Meeting ID: 243 954 129 225 
Location: 3204 Heartleaf Ave. E., 

Panama City, FL 32405 
Passcode: HMWBbV 

 

Agenda 

I. Roll Call  
II. Audience Comments – (limited to 3 minutes per individual for 

agenda items)   
 

III. Presentation of Proof of Publication(s) Exhibit 1 
Pg. 5 

IV. Consent Agenda  
A. Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of 

Supervisors Regular Meeting Held on May 16, 2025 
Exhibit 2 

Pgs. 7-8 

V. Business Matters  
A. FY 2026 Performance Standards & Measures Exhibit 3 

Pgs. 10-11 
VI. Staff Reports  

A. District Counsel  
B. District Engineer  
C. District Manager  

VII. Supervisors’ Requests  
VIII. Audience Comments (limited to 3 minutes per individual for non-

agenda items) 
 

IX. Adjournment  

 

 

https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/ap/t-59584e83/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fteams.microsoft.com%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%253ameeting_MjlhNzg1YTgtMGYzNy00MGNhLTkzZmUtODRmOGJjYmRkYTVh%2540thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%25228af87444-20b6-4d0d-8eb0-34a4747a03fd%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522ff558ff0-1daf-4d82-8204-18385f5e7a19%2522%257d&data=05%7C02%7Ccdimaculangan%40vestapropertyservices.com%7Caa05d88b19c54f11ef8708dc918b7510%7C8af8744420b64d0d8eb034a4747a03fd%7C0%7C0%7C638545275364704635%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Cb8OZ%2BMrE%2BxYz%2BWqd2Ljbx4KkNlhe0tuayHMK4jbCcc%3D&reserved=0
https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/ap/t-59584e83/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fteams.microsoft.com%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%253ameeting_MjlhNzg1YTgtMGYzNy00MGNhLTkzZmUtODRmOGJjYmRkYTVh%2540thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%25228af87444-20b6-4d0d-8eb0-34a4747a03fd%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522ff558ff0-1daf-4d82-8204-18385f5e7a19%2522%257d&data=05%7C02%7Ccdimaculangan%40vestapropertyservices.com%7Caa05d88b19c54f11ef8708dc918b7510%7C8af8744420b64d0d8eb034a4747a03fd%7C0%7C0%7C638545275364704635%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Cb8OZ%2BMrE%2BxYz%2BWqd2Ljbx4KkNlhe0tuayHMK4jbCcc%3D&reserved=0


  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 



06/20/25 Meeting - Page 2 of 2



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 



MINUTES OF MEETING 1 

SWEETBAY RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 1-7 & 2 
COMMERCIAL COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 1-2 3 

 The Regular Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the SweetBay Residential Community 4 
Development Districts 1-7 and Commercial Community Development Districts 1-2 was held on Friday, 5 
May 16, 2025 at 10:05 a.m. CDT, at 3204 Heartleaf Ave., E., Panama City, FL 32405. 6 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS – Roll Call 7 

Mr. McInnes called the meeting to order and conducted roll call. 8 

Present and constituting a quorum were:  9 

Will Randle Board Supervisor, Chairman 10 
Melissa Lupton Board Supervisor, Vice Chairwoman 11 
Mark Moody Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 12 

Also, present were: 13 

David McInnes (via phone) District Manager, Vesta District Services 14 
Carol Watson Association Manager, Burg Management Company, Inc. 15 
Wes Haber (via phone) District Counsel, Kutak Rock 16 
Kyle Magee (via phone) Kutak Rock 17 

The following is a summary of the discussions and actions taken at the May 16, 2025 SweetBay Residential 18 
Community Development Districts 1-7 & Commercial Community Development Districts 1-2 Board of 19 
Supervisors Regular Meeting. Audio for this meeting is available upon public records request by emailing 20 
PublicRecords@vestapropertyservices.com.    21 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS – Audience Comments – (limited to 3 minutes per individual for 22 
agenda items) 23 

 There being none, the next item followed. 24 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS – Exhibit 1: Presentation of Proof of Publication(s) 25 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Consent Agenda 26 

A. Exhibit 2: Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of Supervisor Regular Meeting 27 
Held on February 21, 2025 28 

B. Exhibit 3: Ratification of Dewberry Work Authorization #3 29 

On a MOTION by Mr. Randle, SECONDED by Ms. Lupton, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board approved 30 
the Consent agenda as presented, for the SweetBay Residential 1-7 & Commercial 1-2 Community 31 
Development Districts. 32 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Business Matters  33 

A. Reminder of Form 1’s Due Date: July 1st 34 

Mr. McInnes provided a brief reminder to the Board of the Form 1 requirement. 35 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Staff Reports 36 

A. District Counsel 37 

Mr. Haber had nothing further to report. 38 

mailto:PublicRecords@vestapropertyservices.com


SweetBay Residential CDDs 1-7 & Commercial CDDs 1-2 May 16, 2025 
Regular Meeting  Page 2 of 2 

B. District Engineer 39 

The District Engineer was not present. 40 

C. District Manager  41 

Mr. McInnes had nothing further to report. 42 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Supervisors’ Requests 43 

 There being none, the next item followed. 44 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Audience Comments – New Business/Non-Agenda (limited to 3 45 
minutes per individual)  46 

There being none, the next item followed. 47 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Adjournment 48 

Mr. McInnes asked for final questions, comments, or corrections before requesting a motion to 49 
adjourn the meeting. There being none, Mr. Randle made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 50 

On a MOTION by Mr. Randle, SECONDED by Ms. Lupton, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board adjourned 51 
the meeting at 10:08 a.m. CDT for the SweetBay Residential 1-7 & Commercial 1-2 Community 52 
Development Districts. 53 

*Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered 54 
at the meeting is advised that person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 55 
including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 56 

Meeting minutes were approved at a meeting by vote of the Board of Supervisors at a publicly noticed 57 
meeting held on June 20, 2025. 58 

 59 

 60 

 61 

 62 
Signature  Signature 

Printed Name  Printed Name 

Title: □ Secretary □ Assistant Secretary  Title: □ Chairman □ Vice Chairman 63 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 3 



 

SweetBay Residential Community Development Districts 1-7 and Commercial 
Community Development Districts 1-2 

Performance Measures/Standards and Annual Reporting Form 
10/1/2025-9/30/2026 

 
 

1. Public Meeting Compliance 
 
Goal:  Hold regular Board of Supervisors Meetings at least 2 times during 
FY 2026 
 
Measurement: Number of regular Board meetings held as verified with 
meeting minutes 
 
Achieved:  Yes _____; No _____ 
 

2. Access to Records Compliance 
 
Goal: Ensure that meeting minutes and other public records are available 
and accessible to the public 
 
Measurement: District staff will review District’s website at least once 
every 6 months to verify documents or links are provided on the District’s 
website 
 
Achieved:  Yes _____; No _____ 
 

3. District Engineer or Field Operations Manager Site Inspection 
 
Goal: Ensure that District Engineer conduct an annual inspection of the 
infrastructure owned by the District (if Applicable) 
 
Measurement: The District Engineer will report to the Board when this 
inspection has occurred 
 
Achieved:  Yes _____; No _____ 
 
 
 
 



 

 
4. Annual Budget Preparation 

 
Goal:  Approve the preliminary budget for FY 2027 by date set by Florida 
Statute and Adopt the final budget for FY 2027 by date set by Florida 
Statute 
 
Measurement: Preliminary budget approved and final budget adopted by 
dates set by Florida Statute 
 
Achieved:  Yes _____; No _____ 
 

5. Financial Audit 
 
Goal:  Accept the FY 2025 annual audit by July 1, 2026 
 
Measurement:  Whether the Board approves a motion to accept the annual 
audit before July 1, 2025 
 
Achieved:  Yes _____; No _____ 
 
 


	1. CL
	2. Draft Agenda
	3. EXHIBIT 01
	4. EXHIBIT 01 - Notice of June 20 Meeting - Run 06-13-25

	5. EXHIBIT 02
	6. EXHIBIT 02 - Consent Agenda - May Mins.

	7. EXHIBIT 03
	8. EXHIBIT 03 - Business Items -FY 2026 Performance Standards and Measures


	rta: 


